
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
AFFILIATED HEALTH GROUP, LTD., 
AMERICAN HEALTH CENTER, LTD., 
DIMENSIONS MEDICAL CENTER, LTD.,                                                 
ACCESS HEALTH CENTER, LTD.,         
ACU HEALTH CENTER, LTD., 
ADVANTAGE HEALTH CARE, LTD., 
AANCHOR HEALTH CENTER, LTD. 
FORESTVIEW MEDICAL CENTER, LTD.,                                           
MICHIGAN AVENUE CENTER FOR 
HEALTH, LTD.,                                          
ACE HEALTH CENTER, LTD.,         
CENTER FOR FAMILY HEALTH CARE, SC,                                                           
VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD and                   
VINOD K. GOYAL, MD, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
CITIBANK CORPORATION, 
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, and 
THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, 
INC., 
 
  Defendants. 
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) 
) 
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Hon. Judge ________________ 
 
 
 
Case no.   15-L-_____________ 

   
 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 
 

NOW COME the Plaintiffs, by and through their attorneys, the Law Offices of Jaime T.  
 
Zeas, Esq., pleading hypothetically and in the alternative and state as follows: 

 
INDEX OF COUNTS 

 
I. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 

II. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 
Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

III. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
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IV. American Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation-Violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code.  

V. American Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 
Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

VI. American Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
VII. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of 

the Uniform Commercial Code 
VIII. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation- Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

IX. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
X. Access Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 

XI. Access Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 
Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XII. Access Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XIII. ACU Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 
XIV. ACU Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 
XV. ACU Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XVI. Advantage Health Care, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 
XVII. Advantage Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 
XVIII. Advantage Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XIX. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 
XX. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 
XXI. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XXII. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of 

the Uniform Commercial Code 
XXIII. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 
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XXIV. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XXV. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd .- Citibank Corporation- Violation of 

Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

XXVI. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and 
Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XXVII. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XXVIII. Ace Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 
XXIX. Ace Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XXX. Ace Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XXXI. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 

of the Uniform Commercial Code 
XXXII. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XXXIII. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XXXIV. Vijay L. Goyal, MD- Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of the 

Uniform Commercial Code 
XXXV. Vijay L. Goyal, MD- Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of Reasonable 

Commercial Banking Standards 
XXXVI. Vijay L. Goyal, MD - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XXXVII. Vinod K. Goyal, MD- Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of 

the Uniform Commercial Code 

XXXVIII. Vinod K. Goyal, MD- Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 
Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XXXIX. Vinod K. Goyal, MD - Citibank Corporation- Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
XL. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-

420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

XLI. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation 
of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XLII. American Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation-Violation of Section 3-
420 of the Uniform Commercial Code.  

XLIII. American Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and 
Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 
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XLIV. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 
3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

XLV. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XLVI. Access Health Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code 

XLVII. Access Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and 
Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XLVIII. ACU Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-
420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

XLIX. ACU Health Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation 
of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

L. Advantage Health care, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-
420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LI. Advantage Health care, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation 
of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LII. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-
420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LIII. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and 
Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LIV. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 
3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LV. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LVI. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd .- Bank of America Corporation- Violation 
of Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LVII. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LVIII. Ace Health Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LIX. Ace Health Center, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation 
of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LX. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 
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LXI. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - Bank of America Corporation- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXII. Vijay L. Goyal, MD- Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXIII. Vijay L. Goyal, MD- Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 
Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXIV. Vinod K. Goyal, MD- Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXV. Vinod K. Goyal, MD- Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation 
of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXVI. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXVII. Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXVIII. American Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.-Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code.  

LXIX. American Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXX. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation 
of Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXI. Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXII. Access Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXIII. Access Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXIV. ACU Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXV. ACU Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXVI. Advantage Health care, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXVII. Advantage Health care, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 
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LXXVIII. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation 
of Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXIX. AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXX. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation 
of Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXXI. Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXXII. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd .- The PNC Financial Services Group, 
Inc.- Violation of Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXXIII. Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, 
Inc.- Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXXIV. Ace Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXXV.Ace Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXXVI. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- 
Violation of Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXXVII. Center for Family Health Care, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, 
Inc.- Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

LXXXVIII. Vijay L. Goyal, MD- The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

LXXXIX. Vijay L. Goyal, MD- The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence and 
Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

XC. Vinod K. Goyal, MD- The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Violation of 
Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code 

XCI. Vinod K. Goyal, MD- The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- Negligence 
and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This is an action for damages arising from negligence and statutory violations by various 

banking corporations in their handling and negotiation of hundreds if not thousands of 

improperly indorsed checks made payable to the various plaintiffs.  The improper indorsements 
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found on the back of the checks did not match the payees on the front of the checks – the 

improper indorsements were obvious. 

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1332(a)(1) because plaintiffs are either incorporated in or residents of Illinois and no defendant 

banking corporation is incorporated in Illinois for diversity purposes, and because plaintiffs’ 

damages exceed $75,000. 

This Court has personal jurisdiction over defendants because plaintiffs’ claims 

arise from defendants: 

a. transacting business in the State of Illinois. 

This Court has personal jurisdiction over defendants because they are authorized 

to do business, and are doing business, in the State of Illinois.  

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(1) in that all the 

defendants reside in this District, as that term is defined in § 1391(c) and pursuant to  

§ 1391(a)(2), in that a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred 

in this District. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 
 

A.  The Parties and Federal Jurisdiction 

1.  At all relevant times, Vijay L. Goyal, MD, and Vinod K. Goyal, MD, owned and 
operated a for-profit healthcare business entitled Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. 

2.  At all relevant times, Vijay L. Goyal, MD and Vinod K. Goyal, MD owned and operated 
eleven (11) healthcare centers for profit including Affiliated Health Group, Ltd., 
American Health Center, Ltd., Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd., Access Health 
Center, Ltd., ACU Health Center, Ltd., AAnchor Health Center, Ltd., Forestview 
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Medical Center, Ltd., Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd., Ace Health Center Ltd., 
Center for Family Health Care, SC and Advantage Health Care, Ltd. 

3.  At all relevant times, Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. was located in Arlington Heights, 
Cook County, Illinois and was in the business of providing health and medical care to 
patients. 

4.  On and after 1989, Citibank Corporation was a licensed banking corporation operating in 
the State of Delaware. 

5. On and after 1998, Bank of American Corporation was a licensed banking corporation in 
the State of Delaware. 

6. On and after 1983, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was a licensed banking 
corporation operating in the State of Pennsylvania. 

7. The amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000.00 exclusive of interest 
and costs and is between citizens of different States. 

8. From approximately 1992 to 2013, Irina Nakhshin and Inna Koganshats were employees 
and/or agents of Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. and/or its related companies.  Prior to 
2013, Irina Nakhshin and Inna Koganshats opened and operated at least four illegitimate 
limited liability corporations in Illinois similarly named to plaintiffs’ legitimate 
healthcare centers, specifically, “Affiliated Health Group Billing Inc.”, “American 
Health Center for Billing Inc.”, “Dimensions Medical Management Corp.”, and 
“American Center for Management, Inc.” 

9.  Prior to 2013, the Northern Trust Corporation (“Northern Trust”), Chase Bank, Citibank 
Corporation (“Citibank”), Bank of America Corporation (“Bank of America”), The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. (“PNC Bank”), Fifth Third Bank all were either drawee 
banks of various drawer health care insurance companies drawing checks to compensate 
plaintiffs for their healthcare center services and/or these banks received the health 
insurance money intended for plaintiffs into accounts owned or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin or her affiliates. 

B.  The Theft of Millions of Dollars from the Plaintiffs by Irina Nakhshin and Inna 
Koganshats 

10. On and after 1992, the job duties and responsibilities of Irina Nakhshin for the plaintiffs 
included “posting” or documenting medical insurance payments into the computer 
software program at the plaintiffs’ offices. 

11. Between 1992 and 2013, Irina Nakhshin, along with her affiliates/co-conspirators, 
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engaged in a single continuous scheme to defraud, misappropriate, steal and embezzle the 
rightful funds of plaintiffs by, stealing from the plaintiffs’ mail hundreds, if not 
thousands, of health insurance payments from insurance carriers made payable to 
“Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, “American Health Center, Ltd.” and “Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd.,” as well as made payable to all the other plaintiffs, and without 
authority from plaintiffs, placing a fraudulent and/or improper indorsement on the 
aforesaid checks. 

12. On and after 1992; Irina Nakhshin then deposited the checks made payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.”, “American Health Center, Ltd.”, “Dimensions Medical Center, 
Ltd.” and/or the other plaintiffs into Nakhshin’s accounts at Devon Bank and TCF Bank 
held in the improper names of “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” and “American 
Health Center for Billing, Inc.” 

13. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin had no authority or permission as employee or agent 
of the plaintiffs to open any account at Devon Bank or TCF Bank for the benefit of 
plaintiffs. 

14. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin had no authority or permission from the plaintiffs to 
deposit any checks into any account at Devon Bank. 

15. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin had no authority or permission from the plaintiffs to 
deposit any checks into any account at TCF Bank. 

16. On and after 1992, Devon Bank and TCF Bank presented the incorrectly endorsed health 
insurance check payments to the various drawee banks at Northern Trust, Chase Bank, 
Citibank, Bank of America, PNC Bank, Fifth Third Bank and TCF Bank for payment. 

17. On and after 1992, the various drawee banks had a duty to verify that the indorsement on 
each and every health insurance check drawn by its client insurers for the benefit of the 
plaintiffs was legitimate before forwarding the funds to Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

18. On and after 1992, the various drawee banks failed to detect the fraudulent and improper 
indorsements on hundreds if not thousands of checks over the course of twenty (20) years 
presented to them by Devon Bank and TCF Bank and, therefore, the drawee banks 
accepted and negotiated the checks forwarding or crediting millions of dollars to the 
illegitimate accounts of Irina Nakhshin and her affiliates held at Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

19. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin and her various affiliates then transferred the money 
from the accounts at Devon Bank and TCF Bank into their personal accounts at Northern 
Trust, Chase Bank, Bank of America, Citibank, PNC Bank, Fifth Third Bank and TCF 
Bank. 
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20. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin and her various affiliates then transferred the money 
from the accounts at TCF Bank into their personal accounts at Northern Trust, Chase 
Bank, Bank of America, Citibank, PNC Bank, Fifth Third Bank and TCF Bank. 

21. On and after 1992, the money which Irina Nakhshin deposited into the accounts at Devon 
Bank and TCF Bank was used for her personal gain and the personal gain of her 
affiliates. 

22. On and after 1992, the money which Irina Nakhshin deposited into the accounts at TCF 
Bank was used for her personal gain and the personal gain of her affiliates. 

23. On and after 1992, the various drawer health insurance companies received hundreds if 
not thousands of cancelled checks containing improper indorsements, not containing the 
correct names of the various legitimate plaintiff payees. 

24. On and after 1992, the various drawer health insurance companies failed to detect the 
fraudulent and improper indorsements on hundreds if not thousands of checks over the 
course of twenty (20) years, therefore, permitted their drawee banks to continually accept 
and negotiate the checks forwarding or crediting millions of dollars to the illegitimate 
accounts of Irina Nakhshin and her affiliates held at Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

25. On and after 1992, the various drawer health insurance companies’ monetary obligations 
to the various plaintiff payees were not extinguished by the theft and embezzlement of 
their stolen negotiable instruments. 

C. Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards for 20 Years 

26. At no time did Affiliated Health Group, Ltd., American Health Center, Ltd., Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd. or any of the other plaintiffs hold any account at Devon Bank or 
TCF Bank. 

27. At all relevant times, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks not 
accept, negotiate or deposit checks which were not properly indorsed by the payee. 

28. At all relevant times, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank were prohibited by 
reasonable commercial banking standards from accepting, negotiating or depositing 
checks into an account which were not indorsed by the proper payee. 

29. From 1992 until 2013, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank’s employees routinely 
accepted and negotiated multiple checks made payable to the plaintiff’s company namely 
“Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, “American Health Center, Ltd.”, “Dimensions Medical 
Center, Ltd.” or any other plaintiffs with the Devon Bank and TCF Bank accounts owned 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin which were not indorsed by the plaintiffs. 
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30. From 1992 until 2013, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank violated reasonable 
commercial banking standards by accepting and negotiating checks with Devon Bank and 
TCF Bank made payable to “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.,” “American Health Center, 
Ltd.,” “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.” or any other plaintiffs which were not 
endorsed in the name of the payee.  The amounts of these checks which Devon Bank 
improperly deposited, the drawee banks accepted and negotiated and the various health 
insurance carriers continually permitted to be accepted and negotiated by their drawee 
banks on their behalf exceeded many millions of dollars according to forensic 
accountant analyses.  Exhibits A & B. 

31. From 1992 until 2013, Devon Bank, TCF Bank, the drawee banks, specifically, Citibank, 
Bank of America and PNC Bank and the health insurance carriers did not investigate 
Irina Nakhshin or contact the plaintiffs to notify them that Irina Nakhshin was depositing 
or attempting to deposit checks made payable to “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, 
“American Health Center, Ltd.”, “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.” or any other 
plaintiffs into accounts that she owned or controlled. 

32. At no time did the plaintiffs indorse any check made payable to “Affiliated Health Group 
Ltd.”, “American Health Center, Ltd.”, “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.” or any other 
plaintiffs which was deposited into the Devon Bank or TCF Bank. 

33. At no time did the plaintiffs authorize the deposit of any checks into any account at 
Devon Bank or TCF Bank. 

34. From 1992 until 2013, Irina Nakhshin and her affiliates deposited numerous checks into 
the aforesaid accounts at Devon Bank and TCF Bank and withdrew the money the same 
day or shortly thereafter. 

35. At no time did Irina Nakhshin or her affiliates provide Devon Bank or TCF Bank with 
any proof or documentation that she was authorized to negotiate checks on behalf of 
“Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, “American Health Center, Ltd.”, “Dimensions Medical 
Center, Ltd.” or any other plaintiffs. 

D. Specific Factual Allegations Regarding Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank’s 
Failure to Implement Fraud Detection Policies and Procedures 

36. In its dual function as both one of the depositor banks holding personal accounts for 
embezzlers Nahkshin and Koganshats, as well as the drawee bank of various health 
insurance carriers, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank failed to comply with 
reasonable banking standards. 

37. From 1992 to 2013, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank had or should have had 
computer software programs and other procedures to identify “red flags.” 
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38. At all relevant times, reasonable commercial banking standards required that a bank is 
required to collect and maintain certain information concerning their customers.  The 
bank must maintain procedures that allowed it to "form a reasonable belief that it knows 
the true identify of each customer." 31 CPR Section 1020.22(a)(l ),(2).  To accomplish 
this, the bank is required to collect information about the holder of each account.  31 CFR 
Section 1020.220(a)(2).  When an account is opened by an entity rather than an 
individual, the bank must obtain information about the individuals with authority or 
control over the account. 31 CPR Section 1020.22(a)(2)(ii)( c). 

39. At all relevant times, reasonable commercial banking standards required that a bank must 
also develop a Customer Due Diligence (CDD) program that assists in predicting the types 
of transactions, dollar volume, and transaction volume each customer is likely to conduct, 
and which provides the bank with a way to identify unusual or suspicious transactions for 
each customer. The CDD programs allows the bank to maintain an awareness of the 
unique financial details of its customers and the ability to predict the type and frequency of 
transactions in which its customers are likely to engage. 

40. At all relevant times, reasonable commercial banking standards required that a bank must 
ensure compliance as a condition of employment and incorporate compliance with the 
Bank Secrecy Act and its implementing regulations into job descriptions and performance 
evaluations for its employees .  The bank must also train all operational personnel whose 
duties may require knowledge of the Bank Secrecy Act, including tellers and wire room 
personnel, on the BSA including identification of various "red flags" discussed below. 

41. At all relevant times, reasonable commercial banking standards required that the bank must 
identify a Bank Secrecy Act Compliance Officer who is a senior bank official and who is 
responsible for coordinating and monitoring complete compliance with the Bank Secrecy 
Act FDIC Rules & Regulations Section 326.8.  The Bank Secrecy Compliance Officer is 
required to designate an individual at each office or branch to monitor the bank's day to 
day compliance with the BSA. 

42. On and after 1992, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank and its predecessor banks 
were required pursuant to reasonable commercial banking standards to gather and develop 
profiles of normal and expected activity for any given account.  The defendant was 
further required to evaluate whether the transactions were reasonable given the nature of 
the account, its industry and geographic location. 

43. On and after 1992, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank and its predecessor banks 
were required pursuant to reasonable commercial banking standards to identify or "red 
flag", inter alia, the following transactions in their customer 's (both drawer and depositor) 
accounts: 
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a. Transfers of large sums of money into the account; 
 

b. Transfers of money in even amounts; 
 

c. Transfers of money into and out of an account in a short period of 
time; 

 
d. Fund deposits and transfers in unusual patterns; and 

 
e. Payments from an account which would be inconsistent with the 

purpose of the account here constituting purported payments and 
transactions of a medical practice group. 

 
44. On and after 1992, numerous "red flags " existed, highly irregular or highly suspicious 

transactions took place with respect to the "Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc." and 
"American Health Center for Billing, Inc." accounts being presented to Citibank, Bank of 
America and PNC Bank for acceptance and negotiation for a period of over 20 years: 

a. Transfers of large sums of money in and out of the aforesaid 
accounts in excess of $25,000.00; 
 

b. Large sums of money transferred into the aforesaid accounts in even 
amounts; 

 
c. Large sums of money coming into and going out of the aforesaid 

accounts on the same day and/or in a short period of time; 
 

d. Fund deposits and withdrawals in unusual patterns; and 
 

e. Withdrawal of large amounts of cash and/or cash transactions 
inconsistent with any purpose of a medical practice group. 

 
45. On and after 1992, and for the next 20 years, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC 

Bank and its predecessor banks violated reasonable commercial banking standards 
by "turning a blind eye" by not identifying, investigating and reporting these 
numerous "red flags.” 

 
46. The Federal Financial Institutions Examination Counsel (FFIEC) has identified 

“red flags” that should cause a bank or its employees to inquire further and 
potentially file a suspicious activity report.  The "Affiliated Health Group Billing, 
Inc." and "American Health Center for Billing, Inc.” accounts at issue triggered at 
least the following “red flags”: 
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a. Inconsistent deposit and withdrawal activity; 
 
b. Frequent deposits or withdrawals with no apparent business 

source; 
c. Transactions that are not consistent with the customer’s business; 

 
d. Intrabank transfers between accounts owned or controlled by 

common individuals; 
 

e. Large balances in non-interest bearing accounts; 
 

f. Appearance of using account as temporary repository of funds; 
 

g. Deposits and immediate requests for wire transfers or cash 
shipments; 
 

h. Large deposits and balances; and 
 

i. On and after 1992, hundreds of transactions with Irina Nakhshin 
made into and out of the aforesaid accounts should have and did 
trigger “red flags” which would require investigation pursuant to 
reasonable commercial banking standards. 

 
47. At all relevant times, employees of Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank 

intentionally accepted and negotiated checks presented by Devon Bank and TCF Bank 
which in turn permitted and allowed Irina Nakhshin to deposit millions of dollars of 
checks made payable to "Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.", "American Health Center, 
Ltd.", "Dimensions Medial Center" and other plaintiffs in violation of Citibank, 
Bank of America and PNC Bank’s internal policies and procedures and in violation 
of reasonable commercial banking standards. 
 

48. On each and every instance in which employees of Citibank, Bank of America and PNC 
Bank accepted and negotiated checks presented by Devon Bank and TCF Bank, which in turn 
allowed Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks made payable to "Affiliated Health Group, Ltd." 
, "American Health Center, Ltd." and "Dimensions Medical Center", they did so in 
violation of reasonable commercial banking standards and knowing that Irina Nakhshin 
was violating her fiduciary duty to Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. and other plaintiffs. 

49. Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank failed to implement fraud detection policies 
and procedures pursuant to 31 CPR Section 1020.22(a)(1),(2). 
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50. Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank failed to develop a Customer Due Diligence 
program (CDD). 

51. Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank failed to comply with the Bank Secrecy Act 
FDIC Rules & Regulations Section 326.8. 

52. Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank failed to adhere to the Federal Financial 
Institutions Examination Counsel (“FFIEC”) “red flags” list. 

53. At all relevant times, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks not 
accept or negotiate checks which were not properly indorsed by the payee. 

54. At all relevant times, Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank were prohibited by 
reasonable commercial banking standards from accepting or negotiating checks which 
were not indorsed by the proper payee. 

D.  From 1992 to 2013, Multiple Health Insurance Companies Created and Owed 
Statutory Duties to the Plaintiffs Based Upon the Checks They Wrote 

55. From 1992 to 2013, the plaintiffs received payments in the form of written checks from 
various healthcare insurance companies for payment of services rendered by the 
plaintiffs. 

56. From 1992 to 2013, the plaintiffs received payments in the form of written checks from 
the following health insurance companies. 

a. Blue Cross/Blue Shield a/k/a Healthcare Service Corporation; 

b. United Healthcare 

c. AETNA 

d. Cigna 

e. Elmcare 

f. Gottlieb 

g. GE Health Care Preferred  

h. Medica 

1.  Ingalls Provider Group 

J. Elmbrook Schools 
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k. Benefit Administrative System 

1.  Access Community Health Network 

m. Lincolnway Area Affiliation  

n. The Guardian Life Insurance 

o. Advocate Health Partners 

p. Advocate Health Centers, Inc. 

q. Silver Cross Managed Care Organization 

r. United Healthcare Services, Inc. 

57. From 1992 to 2013, the drawers of the aforesaid checks made payable to the plaintiffs 
were the aforesaid health insurance companies themselves. 

58. Citibank, Bank of America and PNC Bank were the drawee banks for various health 
insurance companies that issued hundreds of thousands of dollars in checks made payable 
to the plaintiffs. 

59. From 1992 to 2013, the aforesaid health insurance companies as drafters of the checks 
owed certain statutory promises upon the transfer of these checks to the plaintiffs such 
that the drafters promised to pay the plaintiffs, even if a person held liable on the checks 
due to embezzlement or theft does not ultimately pay. 

60. On and prior to 2013, when Irina Nakhshin and Inna Koganshats, indorsed the back of 
these checks made payable to the plaintiffs, the endorsement was wholly ineffective due 
to lack of authority, as well as indorsement by an improper payee. 

61. On and prior to 2013, once each of the aforesaid health insurance companies chose to 
issue a check payable to the plaintiffs,  an obligation  arose by the health insurance 
company here pursuant to UCC Section 3-310(b)(4) to the plaintiffs.  (810 ILCS 3- 
310(b)(4)) 

62. At all relevant times, Section 810 ILCS 5/3-414 was in effect in the State of Illinois, the 
aforesaid health insurance companies as drawers of the checks were obligated to pay the 
payee if a check is dishonored or stolen and fraudulently cashed. 

63. At no time did Irina Nakhshin or Inna Koganshats become a legitimate or bona fide 
“holder in due course” of any of the checks that they stole and embezzled pursuant to 810 
ILCS 5/3-301. 
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64. Pursuant to 810 ILCS 5/3-205(b), even a legitimate holder in due course may make a 
check payable only by signing the check to the bearer. 810 ILCS 5/3-205(b). 

65. At no time were any indorsements by Irina Nakhshin or Inna Koganshats effective as the 
indorsement of Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. or any of the other plaintiffs and thus no 
payment was ever made to a legitimate holder of the instrument.  The checks issued by 
each of the aforesaid health insurance companies and nefariously cashed or deposited by 
the embezzlers remain unpaid to the plaintiffs. 

66. Payment to the embezzlers by the drawers and their banks did not in any way extinguish 
the duty of the drawer insurance companies to pay the payee plaintiffs in the amount of 
each and every check issued for healthcare services. 

67. From on or after 1992 to present, plaintiffs have held bank accounts at the Northern Trust 
Corporation and Citibank. 

Count I 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Affiliated Health Group., Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Affiliated Health Group., Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 
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74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally paying on checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd .” but endorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count II 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of 
the payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiffs’ funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Affiliated Health Group, 
Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiffs in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts of the health insurance companies; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd . suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of 
funds, pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT III 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 
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Count IV 
(American Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420 . 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, American Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to American Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff , American Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff   · 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “American Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “American 
Health Center Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
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stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “American Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count V 
(American Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “American 
Health Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nahkshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account. 
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74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to American Health Center, 
Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nahkshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the American 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of 
funds, pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 
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COUNT VI 
(American Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count VII 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 
Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 

 
1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held 
a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. was the payee of the 
checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to 
“Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd .” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count VIII 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Dimensions Medical 
Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without 
authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT IX 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 
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71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count X 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument” , 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Access Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Access Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
:fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Access Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 
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75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Access Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Access 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Access Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as “Affiliated 
Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XI 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Access Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 
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72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Access Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or  

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Access Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
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check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XII 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XIII 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 
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69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, ACU Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a right 
to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable 
to ACU Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, ACU Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “ACU Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “ACU 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “ACU Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as “Affiliated 
Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 
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Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XIV 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “ACU Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed . 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to ACU Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 
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b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin ; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the ACU Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XV 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 
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71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XVI 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after l992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion . 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Advantage Health Care, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Advantage Health Care, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Advantage Health Care, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 
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75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Advantage Health Care, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Advantage Health Care, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XVII 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation – Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks . 
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71. On and after 1992, Devon Bank owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate checks 
payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Advantage Health Care, 
Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement;  or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 
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g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XVIII 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 
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Count XIX 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement ad the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. 

72.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank.On and after 1992, Irina 
Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff received delivery of the 
checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at the plaintiff s offices 
and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin,  an agent of the plaintiffs, took possession of the checks. 

75.  On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “AAnchor Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 
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78.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “AAnchor Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XX 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68.  On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70.  At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72.  On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 
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73.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account. 

74.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to AAnchor Health Center, 
Ltd. 

76.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77.  As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
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each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XXI 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XXII 
(Forestview  Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 
Violation  of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial  Code) 

 
1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68.  On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”,  810 ILCS 5/3-420. 
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69.  On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70.  On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held 
a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. 

72.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false: 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took . 
possession of the checks. 

75.  On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to 
“Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 
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80.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XXIII 
(Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68.  On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70.  At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. . 

71.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate checks 
payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72.  On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account 

74.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Forestview Medical 
Center, Ltd. 

76.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 
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a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to ‘‘know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or  

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior .to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XXIV 
(Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 
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70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XXV 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation- 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. held an interest in 
and held a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and 
made payable to Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. was the payee of 
the checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
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the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s 
funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” but indorsed 
as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XXVI 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation- Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly endorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Michigan Avenue Center 
for Health, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a.  negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b.  failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c.  failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d.  failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or  

e.  failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the 
amount of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or 
“American Health Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XXVII 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 
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Count XXVIII 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts.  

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Ace Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a right to 
possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable to 
Ace Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Ace Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff  and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin,  an agent of the plaintiffs,  took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Ace Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Ace 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
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stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Ace Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as ”Affiliated 
Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XXIX 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Ace Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account. 
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74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Ace Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Ace Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fee and costs. 

 

Page 52 of 143 

 

 

 

Case: 1:15-cv-06016 Document #: 17 Filed: 09/03/15 Page 52 of 143 PageID #:214



COUNT XXX 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XXXI 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. -Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Center for Family Health Care, SC held an interest in and 
held a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and 
made payable to Center for Family Health Care, SC 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks . 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Center for Family Health Care, SC was the payee of the 
checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Center for Family Health Care, SC”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Center for 
Family Health Care, SC” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of 
Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Center for Family Health Care, SC” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count XXXII 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Center for 
Family Health Care, SC” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Center for Family Health 
Care, SC 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Center for 
Family Health Care, SC suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount 
of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XXXIII 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 
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71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XXXIV 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD- Citibank Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform 

Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument” , 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD held an interest in and held a right 
to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable 
to VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin , an agent of the plaintiffs, took  
possession of the checks. 
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75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to ‘‘VIJAY L. 
GOYAL, MD” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 3-  
420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD” but indorsed as “Affiliated 
Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XXXV 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD - Citibank Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Ace Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 
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72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her personal 
account. 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Ace Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or  

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Ace 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the 
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amount of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or 
“American Health Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fee and costs. 

COUNT XXXVI 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 

69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XXXVII 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68.  On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 
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69.  On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70.  On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Vinod K. Goyal, MD held an interest in and held a right to 
possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable to 
Vinod K. Goyal, MD 

72.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Vinod K. Goyal, MD was the payee of the checks stolen by 
Irina Nak.hshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin , an agent of the plaintiffs , took 
possession of the checks. 

75.  On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Vinod K. Goyal, MD”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Vinod K. 
Goyal, MD” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 3-420. 

77.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation as the health insurance company drawee bank 
failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back differing 
stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank and TCF 
Bank. 

79.  On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation did not adhere to reasonable commercial 
banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing checks which 
were made to a particular payee “Vinod K. Goyal, MD” but indorsed as “Affiliated 
Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to negotiate 
checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 
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Wherefore , plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of  Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XXXVIII 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD- Citibank Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Vinod K. 
Goyal, MD” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to identify, 
inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her personal 
account . 

74. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and investigate 
the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or controlled by Irina 
Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to not 
deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Vinod K. Goyal, MD. 

76. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of care 
owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 
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a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Citibank 
Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, Vinod K. Goyal, 
MD suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each check 
charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT XXXIX 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD – Citibank Corporation 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. From on or after 1992, during the entire time period, plaintiffs banked at the Citibank 
Corporation. 
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69. From on or after 1992 to present, there was and still is a banking institution to banking 
customer relationship. 

70. From on or after 1992 to present, by virtue of the banking institution to banking customer 
relationship, Citibank Corporation has had and still has a fiduciary relationship with the 
plaintiffs. 

71. Citibank Corporation breached its fiduciary obligations to plaintiffs by making payment 
on the check notes presented for payment by the depositor banks of Irina Nakshin and her 
various accomplices. 

72. Plaintiffs have been damaged by millions of dollars due to Citibank Corporation’s breach 
of its fiduciary duties to plaintiffs. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of defendant’s proportionate share of 
the total damages in excess of $20 million for the plaintiffs’ loss of funds, pre-judgment interest 
and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XL 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Affiliated Health Group., Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Affiliated Health Group., Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 
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74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally paying on 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd .” but 
endorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLI 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiffs’ funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Affiliated Health 
Group, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiffs in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts of the health insurance companies; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd . suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of 
funds, pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLII 
(American Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation - 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420 . 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, American Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to American Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, American Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff   · 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
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the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “American Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “American 
Health Center Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “American Health Center, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLIII 
(American Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation - 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “American 
Health Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nahkshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to American Health 
Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nahkshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the American 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of 
funds, pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLIV 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation - 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held 
a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. was the payee of the 
checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
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the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to 
“Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd .” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

  Count XLV 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation - 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Dimensions Medical 
Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without 
authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLVI 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument” , 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Access Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Access Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false, 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Access Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 
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74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Access Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Access 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Access Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed 
as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLVII 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Access Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Access Health Center, 
Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or  

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Access Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLVIII 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 
Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 

 
1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, ACU Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a right 
to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable 
to ACU Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, ACU Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
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the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “ACU Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “ACU 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “ACU Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLIX 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “ACU Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 
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71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to ACU Health Center, 
Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin ; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 
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g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the ACU Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count L 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after l 992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Advantage Health Care, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Advantage Health Care, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Advantage Health Care, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 
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75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Advantage Health Care, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Advantage Health Care, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LI 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation – Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 
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70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Devon Bank owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate checks 
payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Advantage Health 
Care, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement;  or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 
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f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LII 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement ad the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. 

72.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 
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74.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank.On and after 1992, Irina 
Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff received delivery of the 
checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at the plaintiff s offices 
and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin,  an agent of the plaintiffs, took possession of the checks. 

75.  On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “AAnchor Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77.  On and .after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “AAnchor Health Center, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LIII 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68.  On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 
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69.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70.  At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72.  On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account. 

74.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to AAnchor Health 
Center, Ltd. 

76.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

Page 84 of 143 

 

 

 

Case: 1:15-cv-06016 Document #: 17 Filed: 09/03/15 Page 84 of 143 PageID #:246



e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77.  As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLIV 
(Forestview  Medical Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68.  On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”,  810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69.  On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70.  On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held 
a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. 

72.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false: 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 
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73.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took . 
possession of the checks. 

75.  On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to 
“Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLV 
(Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68.  On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70.  At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. . 

71.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate checks 
payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72.  On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account 

74.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Forestview Medical 
Center, Ltd. 

76.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to ‘‘know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or  

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior .to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLVI 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. held an interest in 
and held a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and 
made payable to Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. 
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72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. was the payee of 
the checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s 
funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Michigan Avenue Center for Health, 
Ltd.” but indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLVII 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation- 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 

 
1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly endorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiff to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Michigan Avenue 
Center for Health, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a.  negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b.  failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c.  failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d.  failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or  

e.  failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the 
amount of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or 
“American Health Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count XLVIII 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 
Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 

 
1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Ace Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a right to 
possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable to 
Ace Health Center, Ltd. 
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72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Ace Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin,  an agent of the plaintiffs,  took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Ace Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Ace 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Ace Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
”Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count XLIX 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-66 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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67. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

68. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Ace Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

69. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

70. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

71. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

72. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Ace Health Center, 
Ltd. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

76. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Ace Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fee and costs. 

Count LX 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. -Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Center for Family Health Care, SC held an interest in and 
held a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and 
made payable to Center for Family Health Care, SC 
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72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks . 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Center for Family Health Care, SC was the payee of the 
checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Center for Family Health Care, SC”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Center for 
Family Health Care, SC” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of 
Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Center for Family Health Care, SC” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXI 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Center for 
Family Health Care, SC” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Center for Family 
Health Care, SC 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Center for 
Family Health Care, SC suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount 
of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXII 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD- Bank of America Corporation- Violation of Section 3-420 of 

Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument” , 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD held an interest in and held a right 
to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable 
to VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD 
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72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin , an agent of the plaintiffs, took  
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to ‘‘VIJAY L. 
GOYAL, MD” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 3-  
420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXIII 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD – Bank of America Corporation 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Ace Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Ace Health Center, 
Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or  

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Center for 
Family Health Care, SC suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount 
of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXIV 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD – Bank of America Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69.  On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70.  On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Vinod K. Goyal, MD held an interest in and held a right to 
possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable to 
Vinod K. Goyal, MD. 
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72.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73.  On and after 1992, plaintiff, Vinod K. Goyal, MD was the payee of the checks stolen by 
Irina Nak.hshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74.  On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin , an agent of the plaintiffs , took 
possession of the checks. 

75.  On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Vinod K. Goyal, MD”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Vinod K. 
Goyal, MD” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 3-420. 

77.  On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation as the health insurance company 
drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against the back 
differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by Devon Bank 
and TCF Bank. 

79.  On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Vinod K. Goyal, MD” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty and responsibility not to 
negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of  Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXV 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD- Bank of America Corporation- Negligence and Violation of 

Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Vinod K. 
Goyal, MD” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or 
negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds into her 
personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to identify and 
investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held and/or 
controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs to 
not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Vinod K. Goyal, MD. 

76. On and after 1992, Bank of America Corporation was negligent and breached its duty of 
care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to Bank of 
America Corporation concerning transactions in the accounts opened by 
Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, Vinod K. Goyal, 
MD suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each check 
charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXVI 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Affiliated Health Group., Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Affiliated Health Group., Ltd. 

Page 103 of 143 

 

 

 

Case: 1:15-cv-06016 Document #: 17 Filed: 09/03/15 Page 103 of 143 PageID #:265



72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally paying on 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Affiliated Health Group, Ltd .” but 
endorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 
of the Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXVII 
(Affiliated Health Group, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 

 
1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiffs’ funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiffs in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts of the health insurance companies; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Affiliated 
Health Group, Ltd . suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of 
funds, pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXVIII 
(American Health Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.- 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420 . 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, American Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to American Health Center, Ltd. 
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72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, American Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff   · 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “American Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “American 
Health Center Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “American Health Center, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Ltd. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXIX 
(American Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 

 
1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 
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68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “American 
Health Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nahkshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to American 
Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nahkshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 
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d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the American 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of 
funds, pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXX 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. - The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held 
a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. 
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72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. was the payee of the 
checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to 
“Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd .” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count LXXI 
(Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiff to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to 
Dimensions Medical Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without 
authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Dimensions 
Medical Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXII 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument” , 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Access Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Access Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
:fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Access Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Access Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Access 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Access Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed 
as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count LXXIII 
(Access Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - Negligence 

and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Access Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Access 
Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or  

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Access Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXIV 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, ACU Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a right 
to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable 
to ACU Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, ACU Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “ACU Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “ACU 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “ACU Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count LXXV 
(ACU Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “ACU Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to ACU 
Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the ACU Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXVI 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after l992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Advantage Health Care, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Advantage Health Care, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Advantage Health Care, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Advantage Health Care, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Advantage Health Care, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count LXXVII 
(Advantage Health Care, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. – 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 

 
1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks . 

71. On and after 1992, Devon Bank owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate checks 
payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 
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b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Advantage 
Health Care, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXVIII 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. - Citibank Corporation 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement ad the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 
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70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a 
right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, plaintiff, AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank.  On and after 1992, Irina 
Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff received delivery of the 
checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at the plaintiff s offices 
and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin,  an agent of the plaintiffs, took possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “AAnchor Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and .after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “AAnchor Health Center, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Page 122 of 143 

 

 

 

Case: 1:15-cv-06016 Document #: 17 Filed: 09/03/15 Page 122 of 143 PageID #:284



Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXXIX 
(AAnchor Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 
Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 

 
1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 
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a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77.  As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the AAnchor 
Health Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXX 
(Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”,  810 ILCS 5/3-420. 
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69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held 
a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made 
payable to Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false: 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks 
stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took . 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to 
“Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Forestview Medical Center, Ltd.” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 
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80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXXXI 
(Forestview Medical Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. . 

71. On and after 1992, Devon Bank owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate checks 
payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiff to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 
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a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to ‘‘know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or  

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior .to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Forestview 
Medical Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of 
each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXXII 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, 

Inc.- Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. 67. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 
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69. 68. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and 
the payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant 
to Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. held an interest in 
and held a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and 
made payable to Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. was the payee of 
the checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s 
funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in 
violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Michigan Avenue Center for Health, 
Ltd.” but indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” 
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80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Count LXXXIII 
(Michigan Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, 
Inc. - Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 

 
1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly endorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, Citibank Corporation owed a duty of care not to deposit or negotiate 
checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiff to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiff to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 
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a.  negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b.  failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c.  failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d.  failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or  

e.  failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Michigan 
Avenue Center for Health, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the 
amount of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or 
“American Health Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXXIV 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. 67. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. 68. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and 
the payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant 
to Section 3-420. 
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70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Ace Health Center, Ltd. held an interest in and held a right to 
possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable to 
Ace Health Center, Ltd. 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Ace Health Center, Ltd. was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff  and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin,  an agent of the plaintiffs,  took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Ace Health Center, Ltd.”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Ace 
Health Center, Ltd.” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 
3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Ace Health Center, Ltd.” but indorsed as 
”Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count LXXXV 
(ACE Health Center, Ltd. – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Ace Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Ace Health 
Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Ace Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fee and costs. 

Count LXXXVI 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. -Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and the 
payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant to 
Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Center for Family Health Care, SC held an interest in and 
held a right to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and 
made payable to Center for Family Health Care, SC 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Center for Family Health Care, SC was the payee of the 
checks stolen by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff’s staff at 
the plaintiff’s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin, an agent of the plaintiffs, took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Center for Family Health Care, SC”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff’s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Center for 
Family Health Care, SC” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of 
Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Center for Family Health Care, SC” but 
indorsed as “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count LXXXVII 
(Center for Family Health Care, SC – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. 67. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. 68. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Center 
for Family Health Care, SC” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Center for 
Family Health Care, SC 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Center for 
Family Health Care, SC suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount 
of each check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health 
Center for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count LXXXVIII 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD- The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - Violation of Section 

3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. 67. On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument” , 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. 68. On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and 
the payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant 
to Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 
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71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD held an interest in and held a right 
to possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable 
to VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD was the payee of the checks stolen 
by Irina Nakhshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin , an agent of the plaintiffs, took  
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to ‘‘VIJAY L. 
GOYAL, MD” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 3-  
420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “VIJAY L. GOYAL, MD” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 

Page 137 of 143 

 

 

 

Case: 1:15-cv-06016 Document #: 17 Filed: 09/03/15 Page 137 of 143 PageID #:299



Count LXXXIX 
(Vijay L. Goyal, MD – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - 

Negligence and Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Ace Health 
Center, Ltd.” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff’s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Ace Health 
Center, Ltd. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement ; or 

b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or  
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c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f. failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, the Ace Health 
Center, Ltd. suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each 
check charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center 
for Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fee and costs. 

Count XC 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD – The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - 

Violation of Section 3-420 of Uniform Commercial Code) 
 

1.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. 67.  On and after 1992, the State of Illinois has adopted Section 3-420 of the Uniform 
Commercial Code entitled “Conversion of Instrument”, 810 ILCS 5/3-420. 

69. 68.  On and after 1992, the payment of a check over an unauthorized endorsement and 
the payment of a check missing a necessary endorsement constitute conversion pursuant 
to Section 3-420. 

70. On and after 1992, a “payee” who has taken delivery of a check can maintain a cause of 
action for conversion. 

Page 139 of 143 

 

 

 

Case: 1:15-cv-06016 Document #: 17 Filed: 09/03/15 Page 139 of 143 PageID #:301



71. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Vinod K. Goyal, MD held an interest in and held a right to 
possess all checks sent to the plaintiffs by the insurance companies and made payable to 
Vinod K. Goyal, MD 

72. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin, without authority from plaintiff, placed a false 
fraudulent and/or improper endorsement on the aforesaid checks. 

73. On and after 1992, plaintiff, Vinod K. Goyal, MD was the payee of the checks stolen by 
Irina Nak.hshin and deposited into Devon Bank. 

74. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin was an agent of the plaintiff and thus the plaintiff 
received delivery of the checks when (1) the checks were received by plaintiff s staff at 
the plaintiff s offices and/or (2) when Irina Nakhshin , an agent of the plaintiffs , took 
possession of the checks. 

75. On and after 1992, on each occasion that Devon Bank deposited the checks made payable 
to “Vinod K. Goyal, MD”, Devon Bank converted the plaintiff s funds. 

76. On and after 1992, Devon Bank converted numerous checks made payable to “Vinod K. 
Goyal, MD” in the sum of millions of dollars upon deposit in violation of Section 3-420. 

77. On and after 1992, Devon Bank did not have good title to the aforesaid checks. 

78. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. as the health insurance 
company drawee bank failed to reasonably inspect the front named entity payee against 
the back differing stamped named entity endorser of the forged checks forwarded by 
Devon Bank and TCF Bank. 

79. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. did not adhere to reasonable 
commercial banking standards and did not act in good faith by intentionally depositing 
checks which were made to a particular payee “Vinod K. Goyal, MD” but indorsed as 
“Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for Billing Inc.” 

80. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty and 
responsibility not to negotiate checks indorsed by any entity that was not the payee. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages for each and every violation of Section 3-420 of the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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Count XCI 
(Vinod K. Goyal, MD- The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. - Negligence and 

Violation of Reasonable Commercial Banking Standards) 
 

1. Plaintiff hereby incorporates paragraphs 1-67 in Facts Common to All Counts. 

68. 67. On and after 1992, the commercial banking standards required that checks validly 
deposited into an account be indorsed and indorsed with an authorized signature of the 
payee. 

69. 68. On and after 1992, Irina Nakhshin deposited numerous checks payable to “Vinod 
K. Goyal, MD” at Devon Bank, none of which were properly indorsed. 

70. At no time did Irina Nakhshin have the authority to indorse any of the aforementioned 
checks. 

71. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care not to 
deposit or negotiate checks payable to the plaintiffs which were not properly indorsed. 

72. On and after 1992, reasonable commercial banking standards required that banks 
implement fraud detection procedures and computer software in order to identify fraud 
occurring in the client’s accounting. 

73. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to identify, inter alia, that Irina Nakhshin was depositing the plaintiff s funds 
into her personal account. 

74. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to 
identify and investigate the thousands of “red flags” were present in the accounts held 
and/or controlled by Irina Nakhshin. 

75. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. owed a duty of care to the 
plaintiffs to not deposit and/or negotiate the aforesaid checks made payable to Vinod K. 
Goyal, MD. 

76. On and after 1992, The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. was negligent and breached 
its duty of care owed to plaintiff in one or more of the following respects: 

a. negotiated and/or deposited checks made payable to plaintiff without 
proper endorsement; or 
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b. failed to obtain proper documentation or proof regarding the authority of 
Irina Nakhshin to deposit checks in the name of the plaintiff; or 

c. failed to implement proper policies and procedures which would identify 
“red flags” in the accounts opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

d. failed to investigate and/or report on “red flags” known to The PNC 
Financial Services Group, Inc. concerning transactions in the accounts 
opened by Irina Nakhshin; or 

e. failed to “know the client” concerning the accounts opened by Irina 
Nakhshin; or 

f.  failed to instruct and train its tellers and banking staff regarding the 
requirements of a proper authorization of a corporate payee prior to 
negotiating an instrument with the corporation’s name; or 

g. intentionally and in bad faith deposited checks made payable to the 
plaintiff for years which were indorsed by an individual without authority. 

77. As a direct and/or result of one or more of the aforesaid negligent acts, Vinod K. Goyal, 
MD suffered economic loss including, but not limited to, the amount of each check 
charged to the “Affiliated Health Group Billing, Inc.” or “American Health Center for 
Billing Inc.” accounts. 

Wherefore, plaintiff seeks damages in excess of $20 million dollars for the loss of funds, 
pre-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs demand judgment against defendants, in an amount sufficient 

to compensate them for their losses and damages, together with pre-judgment interest and 

attorneys’ fees and costs. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs respectfully request a trial by jury. 
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Dated: August 3, 2015   Respectfully submitted, 

AFFILIATED HEALTH GROUP, LTD., et al. 

 

                   /s/ Jaime Zeas    
 One of Their Attorneys 

 
 
Law Offices of Jaime Zeas, Esq. 
7608 Geranium Street 
Bethesda, Maryland 20817 
Tel: (815) 529-0098 
Fax: (815) 526-7298 
j-zeas@nlaw.northwestern.edu 
IL Bar # 6288733 
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